# Challenges and guidance for implementing social distancing for COVID-19 in care homes: a mixed methods rapid review

Joanne M Fitzpatrick,<sup>1\*</sup> Anne Marie Rafferty,<sup>1</sup> Shereen Hussein,<sup>2</sup> Richard Adams,<sup>3</sup> Lindsay Rees,<sup>4</sup> Sally Brearley,<sup>1</sup> Sarah Sims,<sup>1</sup> Amit Desai<sup>1</sup> and Ruth Harris<sup>1</sup>

 <sup>1</sup>Florence Nightingale Faculty of Nursing, Midwifery and Palliative Care, King's College London, London, UK
<sup>2</sup>Faculty of Public Health and Policy, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK
<sup>3</sup>Sears Healthcare Ltd, Newbury, UK
<sup>4</sup>Encore Care Homes Management Ltd, Bournemouth, UK

\*Corresponding author joanne.fitzpatrick@kcl.ac.uk

Published November 2024 DOI: 10.3310/YNTW4569

## Plain language summary

Challenges and guidance for implementing social distancing for COVID-19 in care homes: a mixed methods rapid review

Health and Social Care Delivery Research 2024; Vol. 12: No. 45 DOI: 10.3310/YNTW4569

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

## **Plain language summary**

Older people living in care homes are at risk of poor health and death if they get coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). To protect older people from COVID-19, care homes use different measures, including social distancing and isolation. These measures can be challenging. Our research aimed to explore the challenges and solutions to using social distancing and isolation in care homes.

We reviewed existing evidence to examine how care homes have used social distancing and isolation measures to control the spread of COVID-19 and other contagious diseases. We investigated how social distancing and isolation measures have been used in six care homes in England. We spoke with residents, families and staff. We collected care home documents and other data. We held group discussions with senior health and care leaders.

The review showed limited research and the limited nature of policy documentation on social distancing and isolation measures. Interviews revealed that social distancing and isolation measures were difficult, and sometimes impossible, for staff to implement. These measures made care homes feel less homely and inhibited touch, for example hugs. Residents and families valued the work of care homes to keep residents safe and the use of technology for keeping connected. Social distancing, isolation and related restrictions negatively affected residents' physical, psychological, social and cognitive well-being. There were feelings of powerlessness for families whose loved ones had moved into the care home during the pandemic. It was challenging for care homes to capture frequent updates in policy and guidance. Senior health and care leaders shared that the care home sector felt isolated from the National Health Service, communication from government to the care home sector was described as chaotic and trauma was inflicted on care home staff, residents, families and friends.

These findings have been used to design guidance to help care homes implement social distancing and isolation measures both now and for any future outbreaks.

### **Health and Social Care Delivery Research**

#### ISSN 2755-0079 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Health and Social Care Delivery Research (HSDR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, INAHTA, Ulrichsweb<sup>™</sup> (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), NCBI Bookshelf, Scopus and MEDLINE.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

This journal was previously published as *Health Services and Delivery Research* (Volumes 1–9); ISSN 2050-4349 (print), ISSN 2050-4357 (online)

The full HSDR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr.

#### Criteria for inclusion in the Health and Social Care Delivery Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Health and Social Care Delivery Research* (HSDR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HSDR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

#### **HSDR** programme

The HSDR programme funds research to produce evidence to impact on the quality, accessibility and organisation of health and social care services. This includes evaluations of how the NHS and social care might improve delivery of services.

For more information about the HSDR programme please visit the website at https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/health-and-social-care-delivery-research.htm

#### This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HSDR programme or one of its preceding programmes as award number NIHR132541. The contractual start date was in November 2020. The draft manuscript began editorial review in May 2022 and was accepted for publication in October 2022. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HSDR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, these of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2024 Fitzpatrick *et al.* This work was produced by Fitzpatrick *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).